# FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 2/21/2024 1:22 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/21/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

N●. 102814-8

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### JEWELS HELPING HANDS and BEN STUCKART

Petitioners,

VS.

#### BRIAN HANSEN,

an d

CITY OF SPOKANE, SPOKANE COUNTY, and SPOKANE COUNTY AUDITOR VICKY DALTON,

Respondents.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH & LOWNEY, PLLC

By: Knoll D. Lowney
WSBA No. 23457
Katelyn Kinn
WSBA No. 42686
2317 East John Street
Seattle WA 98112-5412
(206) 860-2883

Attorneys for Petitioners

### **

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The primary question posed by this petition is whether citizens can use the *local* initiative or referendum process to circumvent the coordinated planning process and express delegations contained in *State* law.

Through the 2005 passage of the Homeless Housing and Assistance Act, and substantial 2018 and 2021 amendments, codified at RCW Chapter 43.185C (collectively the "Homeless Act"), the Legislature did all that is necessary to remove homelessness response from the scope of the local initiative power, under this Court's well-established precedents. The Legislature expressly determined that homelessness housing policy, including encampment policy, is a Statewide issue, not a purely local one, and required all levels of government engage in coordinated planning. As this Court has repeatedly held, the local initiative and referendum process is "structurally inconsistent" with a statutory mandate of coordinated planning. 1000 Friends of Wash. v. McFarland, 159 Wn.2d 165, 181, 149

P.3d 616, 625 (2006), *citing Whatcom Cty. v. Brisbane*, 125 Wn.2d 345, 884 P.2d 1326 (1994). Indeed, coordinated planning is meaningless if citizens can wait for statutory planning to play out and then use a local initiative or referenda process to veto its results.

The Legislature also lodged decision-making authority in the hands of regional task forces and local legislative authorities, precluding the local initiative process. "When the legislature enacts a general law granting authority to the legislative body (or legislative authority) of a city, that legislative body's authority is not subject to repeal, amendment, or modification by the people through the initiative or referendum process." *Mukilteo Citizens for Simple Gov't*, 174 Wn.2d 41, 51, 272 P.3d 227, 233 (2012) (internal citations omitted).

Here, the City of Spokane carried out the planning and decision-making required by State law, and the Spokane City Council adopted a balanced policy on homeless encampments,

including a land use decision about *where* camping would be allowed. Respondent Brian Hansen was dissatisfied with the outcome of this process and sponsored the initiative to expand the locations where homeless camping is criminalized, ignoring the outcome of the planning process, and vetoing the Council's policy choices. Petitioners challenged the initiative as being outside the scope of the local initiative process. In a published decision ("decision"), Division III ignored this Court's precedents to hold that the initiative was within the scope of the local initiative process.

The issues raised by this petition are also of substantial public interest that have already impacted hundreds of thousands of Washington voters. In just the past several years, citizens in Seattle and Spokane have proposed ballot measure to criminalize homeless camping. The King County Superior Court Judge struck the Seattle measure from the ballot after finding that the Act precludes local initiatives on

homelessness.<sup>1</sup> Two years later, the Spokane Superior Court and Division III reached the opposite conclusion, holding that the Homeless Act does not limit the local initiative process.

If the decision is allowed to stand, initiative efforts to criminalize homelessness will likely become more common and extreme.<sup>2</sup> This will lead to setting homeless policy by soundbites and politics, rather than evidence and coordination as the Legislature clearly intends. The decision threatens other statutory schemes requiring coordinated planning and response, from public health to noxious weed control. The decision elevates purely local interests over those of the State as a whole and should be reviewed by the State Supreme Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Seattle / King County Coalition on Homelessness v. Compassion Seattle, King County Superior Court No. 21-2-10563-3, Order Granting Correction of Election Error (RCW 29A.68) and Declaratory and Injunctive Relief (August 30, 2021). Appendix 56-72. (CP 133 – 157).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The two recent local initiatives addressed restricting or criminalizing homeless camping, but other anti-homeless campaigns have reportedly sought to prohibit feeding of the homeless and to authorize the use of force against homeless camping.

### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Jewels Helping Hands is a homeless services organization that serves people experiencing homelessness in Spokane and Spokane county. The initiative will limit the organization's work by making it more difficult to locate and provide services to those living unsheltered. For example, Jewels Helping Hands provides basic needs to those surviving outside. Loss of items from "sweeps" due to this initiative would require the organization to replace those items. Further, when the organization's clients are unable to receive services, they become stuck in homelessness.

Ben Stuckart is the Executive Director of the Spokane Low Income Housing Consortium and a taxpayer.

Defendant, Brian Hansen, is sponsor of the Initiative.

Additional necessary parties include City of Spokane, a political subdivision of the State of Washington, Spokane County, a political subdivision of the State of Washington, and

Spokane County Auditor Vicky Dalton, named only in her official capacity.

#### III. COURT OF APPEALS' PUBLISHED DECISION

On December 7, 2023, Division III of the Court of Appeals issued a published opinion that upheld the Spokane initiative's right to appear on the ballot. *Jewels Helping Hands* v. *Hansen*, \_\_ Wn.App. 2d \_\_, 539 P.3d 68, 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS 2289\*\* (2023) ("decision"). Appendix 1-18.

#### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does RCW Chapter 43.185C preclude the use of the local initiative and referendum process to set homelessness policy because it (1) contains a comprehensive decision-making scheme that does not include the local initiative process; (2) mandates a coordinated planning process; and (3) delegates decision-making authority to regional homelessness task forces and local legislative authorities?
- 2. Does an initiative interfere with the City Council's exclusive authority over zoning and land use matters by

criminalizing homeless camping (or another legal activity)

based upon proximity to other land uses and for the express

purpose of protecting adjacent land uses?

- 3. Is the initiative at issue beyond the scope of the local initiative process?
- 4. Can criminalizing homeless camping be justified as a "classic vagrancy ordinance" as Division III held?

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The legislature adopted a comprehensive statutory scheme for addressing the homelessness crisis and homeless encampments.

The Homeless Act, codified at RCW Chapter 43.185C, creates a comprehensive planning and decision-making process that includes state and local government and involves stakeholders at multiple levels:

• Department of Commence creates a five-year homeless housing strategic plan to address "performance measures and goals to reduce homelessness" and implementation strategies. RCW 43.185C.040(1).

- "To guide local governments in preparation of local homeless housing plans . . . the department shall issue . . . guidelines consistent with this chapter . . .." RCW 43.185C.040(3).
- Department provides annual and biennial reporting on its plan. RCW 43.185C.045.
- State and local government "must" establish program outcomes, performance measures, and goals "in collaboration." RCW 43.185C.040(3).
- Task force of local stakeholders and experts recommend local plans that must be consistent with state plan. RCW 43.185C.010 (task force must include City and County and formerly homeless person); RCW 43.185C.160 (task force may include other stakeholders); RCW 43.185C.100(1) (state offers technical assistance on task force members).
- Task Force recommends guidelines for a range of housing options, ranging from permanent housing to shelters and temporary encampments.
- Local legislative body may make changes and then adopts local homelessness plan.<sup>3</sup> RCW 43.185C.050.

8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Legislature authorized local legislative bodies to include a wide range of activities in their local homelessness plans, including "identification of goals, performance measures, strategies, and costs and evaluation of progress towards established goals," RCW 43.185C.050. Appendix 20.

- The department reports to the Governor and Legislature on the "the performance of each participating local government in creating and executing a local homeless housing plan which meets the requirements of this chapter." RCW 43.185C.040(4).
- Local government provides annual reports. RCW 43.185C.040.
- State funds allocated in part based upon local plans. RCW 43.185C.049, .070(3) ("The department may approve applications only if they are consistent with the local and state homeless housing program strategic plans."); RCW 43.185C.090 ("The department shall allocate grant moneys from the homeless housing account to finance in whole or in part programs and projects in approved local homeless housing plans . . .")

Further, in 2021, the Legislature tasked the William D.

Ruckelshaus Center to conduct factfinding and work with a

defined group of stakeholders, legislators, and the executive

branch "for the purpose of identifying options and

recommendations to develop and implement a long-term

strategy to improve the outcome and services for persons at risk

or experiencing homelessness and develop pathways to

permanent housing solutions." Laws of 2021, ch. 214, §6 (codified as a note to RCW 43.185C.185). The recommendations must "clearly assign responsibilities of state and local government". *Id*.

The coordinated planning process and expert fact-finding is designed *to drive policy* – not to be ignored or overruled by a local initiative. The 2021 law stated, "*The legislature intends for this examination to result in a widely accepted strategy for identifying how best to address homelessness* in ways that: (A) Address the root causes of the problem; (B) clearly assign responsibilities of state and local government to address those causes;. . . and (E) develop pathways to permanent housing solutions and associated services to break the cycle of housing insecurity and homelessness."

The Homeless Act's planning processes specifically delegates the establishment of encampment guidelines to local homelessness task forces. RCW 43.185C.060. The Legislature found that encampments can "serve as pathways for individuals

experiencing homelessness to receive services and achieve financial stability, health, and permanent housing." Laws of 2020, ch. 223, §1; RCW 36.01.290. Meanwhile, the State Department of Commerce has made temporary encampments eligible for funding under the Homeless Act.<sup>4</sup>

In other words, homelessness planning and response generally, and encampments specifically, are not purely local issues, but are statewide and regional issues that must be addressed through the Homeless Act's comprehensive planning and decision-making processes.

# B. Spokane's homelessness planning and regulation of camping

The City of Spokane is required to plan under the

Homeless Act, and in doing so addressed the issue of homeless

content/uploads/2020/09/hau-ofah-shelter-guidelines-2020-2023.pdf. Appendix 21-47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> WA State Dept. of Commerce, Guidelines for the Shelter Program Grant (Aug. 2020), https://www.commerce.wa.gov/wp-

camping.<sup>5</sup> The City's homelessness plan included a section about "encampments," noting that "[c]riminalizing acts of survival is not a solution to homelessness," can prolong homelessness, "and results in unnecessary public costs for police, courts, and jails." CP 298 (City of Spokane's Strategic Plan to End Homelessness, 2015-2020, p. 31).

The City regulates camping in both the Unified Development Code, Spokane Municipal Code ("SMC") Chapter 17C, and in Section 12.02.1010. In 2011, the City enacted SMC 17C.319 "to regulate the use and occupancy of recreational vehicles, tents, huts, and other temporary shelters on private property in all zones." SMC 17C.319.200. This provision of the zoning code prohibits the use of such temporary shelters "for more than fourteen days in a consecutive twelve-month period."

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Like the State, Spokane has adopted a regional approach to addressing homelessness, requiring regional stakeholders to be involved in the development of its homelessness response policy, "without exception." SMC 18.05.030 (B)(1).

SMC 17C.319.200. The purpose is to avoid "unsanitary, unsafe, or nuisance conditions." SMC 17C.319.010.6

The City also regulates homeless camping in Chapter 12.02 of the SMC. Until 2022, SMC 12.02.1010 only addressed camping on public land, providing "No person may camp in or upon any public property . . . unless specifically authorized by declaration of the Mayor in emergency circumstances." SMC 12.02.1010. However, in 2019, the Ninth Circuit issued its ruling in *Martin v. City of Boise*, which is generally interpreted to preclude enforcement of such camping bans when no shelter is available. 920 F.3d 584, 617 (9th Cir. 2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> "Since the passage of the Comprehensive Plan in 2001, the process of adoption of development standards to implement the plan has been ongoing. The compilation of the latest development standards is found in Title 17 of the Spokane Municipal Code, the 'Unified Development Code' (UDC)." City of Spokane, Unified Development Code Maintenance Project (Sept 21, 2023, 2:30pm),

https://my.spokanecity.org/projects/unified-development-code-maintenance-project/.

After years of debate about how to respond to *Martin*, Spokane's Mayor brokered a compromise. "The purpose of Ordinance C36272 was to bring the city of Spokane into compliance with *Martin*". Decision at 3. Ordinance C36272 retained the blanket prohibition against camping on public land, SMC 12.02.1010A.1, but followed *Martin* by making enforcement of that prohibition contingent on shelter availability. The Ordinance also establishes a zone where camping is always prohibited, regardless of shelter availability. SMC 12.02.1010A.3. *See* CP 123 (Ordinance C36272).

# C. The Initiative vetoes the City Council's land use and homelessness policies.

The initiative fundamentally undoes the City Council's compromise by expanding the areas in the city where homeless camping is criminalized, regardless of shelter availability, and modifies the City's land use decision about where in the city homeless camping is allowed.

The initiative vetoes the City Council's homelessness policies but did not follow any of the processes required under RCW 43.185C. •• So. Appendix 20. It was written by its sponsor, not recommended by a housing task force that meets the statutory criteria of RCW 43.185C. It was not designed to meet state planning standards or be consistent with the State's five-year plan. And it was not put before the City's legislative authority for approval.

### VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED.

1. Division III's published opinion contradicts numerous Supreme Court precedents establishing state supremacy over the local initiative process.

The decision upends a well-established body of law that precludes the use of the local initiative process when the state has adopted a statute that (1) mandates a comprehensive decision-making process that does not include the local initiative process; (2) requires coordinated planning, or (3)

delegates decision-making to specifically identified bodies and/or the local legislative authorities.

"Initiative and referendum procedures can be invoked at the local level only if their exercise is not in conflict with state law." *Citizens Against Mandatory Bussing v. Palmason*, 80 Wn.2d 445, 450, 495 P.2d 657, 661 (1972).

a. The Homeless Act creates a comprehensive planning process that precludes the use of local initiative.

The Supreme Court held that local initiatives and referenda cannot be used where the Legislature has enacted a comprehensive decision-making scheme that does not include initiative and referenda. *Whatcom Cty. v. Brisbane*, 125 Wn.2d 345, 884 P.2d 1326 (1994). This is the case here.

The local initiative and referendum process cannot be used where the Legislature has adopted a comprehensive scheme for decision-making that does not contemplate local initiatives and referendum and/or where the use of the initiative

or referendum would frustrate the statutory purpose. Whatcom Cnty. v. Brisbane, 125 Wn.2d at 351-52 ("The absence of any mention of referenda [in the Growth Management Act] indicates the statute's rejection of referendum rights.") ("The purpose of the Growth Management Act, RCW 36.70A, would be frustrated if the people of Whatcom County were permitted by referendum to amend an ordinance adopted to implement the goals of a comprehensive land use plan.").

In 1000 Friends of Washington v. McFarland, this

Court decided that county ordinances enacted to implement

Washington's Growth Management Act were not subject to

veto by local initiative or referendum. Recognizing that "[i]t

would violate the constitutional blueprint to allow a

subdivision of the State to frustrate the mandates of the people

of the State as a whole." 159 Wn.2d at 168.

# b. The Act requires coordinated planning, which precludes interference by local initiative.

The express goal of this statutory scheme is coordinated planning. RCW 43.185C.005 (while housing is provided locally, "the legislature also recognizes the need for the state to play a primary coordinating, supporting, and monitoring role" with "clear assignment of responsibilities"), Appendix 19, establishes a "homeless housing program to develop *and coordinate* a statewide strategic plan aimed at housing homeless persons." RCW 43.185C.020 (emphasis added).

This Court has repeatedly held that the local initiative and referendum process cannot be appended onto coordinated planning statutes. *See Whatcom Cty. v. Brisbane*, 125 Wn.2d at 325 (striking referendum because "the GMA seeks coordinated planning. ... allowing referenda is structurally inconsistent with this mandate"); *1000 Friends of Washington*, 159 Wn.2d at 180-181, 188 (holding use of a referendum "is inconsistent with integrated, comprehensive planning"). The coordinated system

of homelessness response decision-making, while implemented at the local level, is a matter of statewide concern and therefore subject to local initiative and referenda. See, e.g., Snohomish County v. Anderson, 123 Wn.2d 151, 159, 868 P.2d 116 (1994) ("Permitting the referendum would jeopardize an entire state plan and thus would extend beyond a matter of local concern"). Moreover, the threat is even greater where, like here, the local initiative seeks to carry out a line-item veto of the homelessness response plan. See 1000 Friends of Washington v. McFarland, 159 Wn.2d at 180-181 ("[R]eferendum in many jurisdictions does not merely act as a veto but in some counties can strike individual portions of ordinances. That is inconsistent with integrated, comprehensive planning.").

The Act's planning structure is not dissimilar to the coordinated planning under the Growth Management Act, which the Courts have held is not subject to local initiative. See Whatcom Cnty. v. Brisbane, 125 Wn.2d at 355; Snohomish County v. Anderson, 123 Wn.2d at 159. Like the GMA, the

Homeless Act requires development of state plans and guidelines to influence local planning; requires development of local plans by governments that are required to plan or opt into planning; provides state technical assistance for planning; requires regional cooperation; and gives local legislative authorities certain decision-making authority.

# c. The Legislature delegated authority to specific other bodies, precluding the use of Initiative.

Where the Legislature has expressly or impliedly delegated planning or decision-making authority to specific bodies, such as the city council, the use of the local initiative process is prohibited. "When the legislature enacts a general law granting authority to the legislative body (or legislative authority) of a city, that legislative body's authority is not subject to repeal, amendment, or modification by the people through the initiative or referendum process." *Mukilteo Citizens for Simple Gov't*, 174 Wn.2d at 51 (internal citations omitted). "Stated another way, ... the people cannot deprive the city legislative

authority of the power to do what the constitution and/or a state statute specifically permit it to do." *City of Sequim v. Malkasian*, 157 Wn.2d 251, 265, 138 P.3d 943, 950-51 (2006) (internal quotation marks omitted). This delegation does not need to be stated in any magic words. *See Motley-Motley, Inc. v. PCHB*, 127 Wash. App. 62, 74, 110 P.3d 812, 819 (2005) (finding that delegation may be implicit).

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