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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE 
DENIED 

Spokane voters have broad authority to legislate by 

initiative.  See CITY OF SPOKANE CHARTER, art. I, § 4; id., art. IX, 

§ 82; see also RCW 35.22.200 (authorizing cities to allow direct 

legislation).  The superior court’s pre-election review was 

limited to whether the initiative exceeded the people’s legislative 

power.  See Spokane Entrepreneurial Ctr. v. Spokane Moves to 

Amend Const., 185 Wn.2d 97, 104, 369 P.3d 140 (2016).  The 

party challenging direct legislation has the burden to demonstrate 

illegality.  1000 Friends of Wash. v. McFarland, 159 Wn.2d 165, 

183, 149 P.3d 616 (2006) (plurality opinion).  Division Three 

correctly concluded that Plaintiffs failed to carry that burden.3 

A. Division Three’s decision is consistent with precedent 
that restricts zoning or land-use-planning by direct 
legislation. 

Nothing about Division Three’s decision conflicts with 

case law that restricts zoning or land-use planning by direct 

 
3 In their petition for review, Plaintiffs have abandoned their 

challenge to the initiative as an exercise of administrative power. 



 

RESPONDENT BRIAN HANSEN’S 
(1) ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND (2) CONDITIONAL CROSS-
PETITION FOR REVIEW - 13 

CLE031-0001 7547079 

legislation.  E.g., Lince v. City of Bremerton, 25 Wn. App. 309, 

312–13, 607 P.2d 329 (1980).  Division Three correctly 

concluded that section 1010 is not a zoning or land-use-planning 

ordinance for two fundamental reasons: it neither (1) applies to 

private property nor (2) dictates how property owners may use 

their property.  Review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (b)(2) is thus 

unwarranted. 

1. Section 1010 applies only on public property. 

Though barely mentioned in their petition, central to 

Plaintiffs’ argument that the initiative is zoning or land-use 

planning is the notion that section 1010 applies to private 

property as well as public property.4  See Appellants’ Opening 

Brief at 12–13, 29–34.  Division Three parsed Spokane’s 

municipal code and section 1010 and correctly concluded that the 

 
4 Although their petition is not entirely clear on the matter, it 

appears that Plaintiffs still maintain that section 1010 applies to 
private property.  See Petition at 13 (“Until 2022, SMC 
12.02.1010 only addressed camping on public land….” 
(emphasis added)), 26 (arguing that Division Three’s decision 
could affect churches that host encampments). 
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ordinance applies only to public property.  See Slip Op. at 7–11; 

CP 204.   

Section 1010 is in title 12, article IV, chapter 2 of 

Spokane’s municipal code.  Title 12 regulates the use of “Public 

Ways and Property.”  Its purpose is to “regulate and control the 

obstruction of public rights-of-way in the City so that those 

rights-of-way remain accessible and safe for their intended 

public use.”  SMC § 12.01.005.  Chapter 2 of title 12 governs 

“Obstruction [and] Encroachment of Public Ways.”  And article 

IV of chapter 2 governs “Protection of Public Lands and 

Properties.”  Title 12 does not regulate the use of private 

property; a different title contains the city’s zoning and land-use-

planning laws—title 17.   

Article VI’s statement of purpose references only public 

property.  See SMC § 12.02.1000.  It cites Spokane’s 

commitment to “protecting its public lands” from “potential 

health and safety hazards which result from unregulated human 

activity.”  SMC § 12.02.1000(A).  Article IV’s purposes are 
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twofold: (1) “to set standards for the preservation of public lands 

and properties that prevent such harms…” and (2) “to promote 

the public health, safety and general welfare of citizens by 

providing protection to public lands and properties from the 

detrimental effects of unregulated human activity….”  SMC 

§ 12.02.1000(B).  Article IV defines “public property” but never 

mentions, let alone defines, private property.  See SMC 

§ 12.02.1002(E). 

Most significant, the plain language of section 1010 itself 

confirms that, like the rest of title 12, it applies only to public 

property.  Section 1010 is captioned: “Unauthorized Camping on 

Public Property—Violation.”  SMC § 12.02.1010.  Subsection 

(A)(1) of section 1010, which contains the law’s prohibition, 

expressly applies only to public property: “No person may camp 

in or upon any public property….”  SMC § 12.02.1010(A)(1) 

(emphasis added).  Section 1010’s remaining provisions likewise 

apply only to public property because they merely address 

(1) conditions of enforceability, (2) enforcement, and 
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(3) penalties; they do not modify the prohibition itself.  See SMC 

§ 12.02.1010(A)(2)–(3), (B)–(C).   

2. Section 1010 is a classic vagrancy ordinance, not 
a zoning or land-use-planning ordinance. 

Plaintiffs are not just wrong about the scope of section 

1010.  Their position has another fundamentally incorrect 

premise—that the act of camping on another’s land is “land use” 

as that term is used in the context of zoning and planning.  Citing 

McQuillin, the leading treatise on municipal corporations, 

Division Three correctly observed that zoning and land-use-

planning ordinances “regulate the conduct of landowners, not 

land occupiers such as guests or trespassers.”  Slip Op. at 11 

(citing 8 MCQUILLIN MUNICIPAL CORPORATIONS, various 

sections (3d ed. 2020); id. at 12 n.4.   

Section 1010 is not a zoning or land-use-planning 

ordinance because it says nothing about what property owners 

can do with their property.  Instead, it regulates individuals’ 

conduct on public property.  In this way, it is no different from 

bans on burning and littering on public property found in the 
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same chapter and article of Spokane’s municipal code.5  As 

Division Three observed, “[w]hen a zoning ordinance is violated, 

it is the owner who suffers the penalties, not a guest, invitee, or 

even a trespasser.”  Id. at 12.   

Citing no authority, Plaintiffs assert that Division Three’s 

decision allows an end run around the prohibition on zoning and 

land-use planning by direct legislation.  They assert that, under 

the decision, an initiative need only “target[] the landowner’s 

guests rather than the landowners” to obtain the same result as 

could otherwise be obtained solely via zoning or land-use 

restrictions.  Petition at 26.  As shown by Plaintiffs’ church 

hypothetical, this argument relies on their incorrect premise that 

section 1010 applies to private property.  Again, it does not.  See 

§ V.A.1, supra. 

Beyond that, if an ordinance can effectively prevent a land 

use by prohibiting an activity, that is a policy choice that voters 

 
5 SMC § 12.02.1006 (prohibiting burning on public property); 

SMC § 12.02.1008 (prohibiting littering on public property). 



 

RESPONDENT BRIAN HANSEN’S 
(1) ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND (2) CONDITIONAL CROSS-
PETITION FOR REVIEW - 18 

CLE031-0001 7547079 

are entitled to make.  For instance, a noise ordinance could 

effectively prohibit shooting ranges; a ban on parking derelict 

vehicles could effectively prohibit wrecking yards; or a ban on 

keeping wild animals could prohibit zoos.  An activity may be a 

prohibited nuisance even if otherwise permitted under zoning 

and land-use-planning ordinances.  8 MCQUILLIN MUNICIPAL 

CORPORATIONS § 25:15 (3d ed., updated June 2023).  This does 

not mean that ordinances that ban nuisances are immune from 

direct legislation.   

Instead of a zoning or land-use-planning ordinance, 

Division Three correctly concluded that section 1010 is “a classic 

vagrancy ordinance, which is an exercise of the city’s general 

police powers.”  Slip Op. at 13 (citing 6A MCQUILLIN, supra, 

§ 24:109 n.26).  And Legislature granted the power to enact such 

ordinances to the city as a whole—not the local legislative body.  

Id. (citing RCW 35.22.280(34)–(35)); see also 

RCW 35.22.280(30) (delegating to cities the power to declare 

and police nuisances).   
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Plaintiffs’ objection to “criminaliz[ing] homelessness” is 

misplaced.  The initiative did no such thing.  As Plaintiffs 

themselves point out, their cited case upheld a vagrancy 

ordinance “because it criminalized specific conduct,” Petition at 

28 n.8 (citing State v. Jones, 9 Wn. App. 1, 5, 511 P.2d 74 

(1973)), as distinct from an ordinance that “was of a catchall 

nature in that it described conduct or condition or status which is 

as likely to be innocent and innocuous as it is that it is criminal.”  

Jones, 9 Wn. App. at 5.  Section 1010 criminalizes not 

homelessness itself but instead specific conduct—camping on 

public property.6 

 
6 Notably, Spokane’s Community Court “does not penalize 

homelessness, but rather serves as a mechanism for assisting 
unsheltered persons to access and engage in the services and 
programming that assist individuals in exiting homelessness and 
through diversion, allows participants the opportunity to change 
their trajectory without a criminal conviction[.]”  CP 120.   
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B. Division Three’s decision is consistent with precedent 
that direct legislation must not conflict with state law 
because Division Three correctly concluded that the 
initiative did not conflict with the Homeless Housing 
and Assistance Act. 

Nothing about Division Three’s decision conflicts with 

case law under which direct legislation must not contravene state 

law.  E.g., Whatcom County v. Brisbane, 125 Wn.2d 345, 885 

P.2d 1326 (1994).  Review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (b)(2) is thus 

unwarranted. 

Enacted in 2005, the HHAA established and funded a 

statewide homeless-housing program administered by the 

Department of Commerce.  It contemplates coordinated planning 

by local governments with the goal of ending homelessness—

originally by 2015.  RCW 43.185C.005.  The Legislature 

adopted the HHAA to allow the state “to play a primary 

coordinating, supporting, and monitoring role” in combating 

homelessness.  Id. 

HHAA planning is voluntary for local governments.  The 

act established a framework for planning at the county level and 
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presumes county participation.  But counties may opt out.7  

RCW 43.185C.080(3), .160(1).  As for cities, like Spokane, 

Plaintiffs are incorrect that they are “required to plan.”  Petition 

at 11.  A city may opt in and “assert responsibility for homeless 

housing within its borders if it so chooses[.]”  

RCW 43.185C.080(1). 

Although Spokane has opted in, see CP 268–98, the 

HHAA does not require a local government to adopt regulations 

to implement a homeless-housing plan.  And Spokane did not 

enact section 1010 or amend it in 2022 to implement the city’s 

homeless-housing plan.  It did so to protect public health and 

safety and the city’s public lands and properties.  See CP 118–

20.  Section 1010 has nothing to do with the HHAA.   

In challenging the initiative, Plaintiffs have analogized 

between the HHAA and the Growth Management Act (GMA), 

 
7 If a county opts out, the state itself will “create and execute” 

a homeless-housing plan for the county.  RCW 43.185C.080(3), 
.160(1).   
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chapter 36.70A RCW.  But any such analogy is inapt.  The two 

laws have entirely different structures and mechanisms.  The 

GMA requires a county to adopt a comprehensive land-use plan 

consistent with statewide policy.  RCW 36.70A.040(3).  And a 

county must enact development regulations to implement that 

plan.  RCW 36.70A.040(4).  The GMA delegates the power to 

enact those regulations specifically to the local legislative body.  

Id.; see Brisbane, 125 Wn.2d at 349–50. 

The HHAA is nothing like the GMA.  It does not require 

local governments to adopt regulations, let alone implement 

statewide policy.  The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that 

nothing in the initiative conflicts with the HHAA because the 

HHAA “says nothing about what cities may or may not do about 

individuals who are currently unhoused.”  Slip Op. at 14. 

Critically, “ordinances must implement state policy at the 

direction of the State to be immune from local [direct 

legislation].”  1000 Friends, 159 Wn.2d at 183.   
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Spokane’s voluntary HHAA planning changes nothing.  

All the HHAA requires is that the local homeless-housing task 

force develop and recommend a five-year homeless-housing plan 

to the legislative body.  RCW 43.185C.050(1).  The local 

government may then by resolution adopt that plan or a different 

plan.  Id.  The plan “may include” performance measures, 

recommendations for state legislation, and various “activities to 

reduce and prevent homelessness.”  RCW 43.185C.050(1), (2).  

The local government need not enact laws to implement the plan.   

Plaintiffs have consistently relied on Brisbane to support 

their contention that HHAA forecloses direct legislation like the 

GMA.  But far from supporting their position, Brisbane 

illustrates why their GMA analogy fails.  Brisbane involved a 

referendum petition to amend an ordinance enacted to implement 

a comprehensive plan under the GMA.  See Brisbane, 125 Wn.2d 

at 346–48.  This Court allowed a challenge to proceed, reasoning 

that the GMA expressly delegated to the local legislative body 

the power to enact GMA-mandated regulations, and allowing 
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direct legislation would authorize “the potential repeal of 

ordinances required by the Legislature to be enacted for 

statewide growth management.”  Id. at 350–51. 

Brisbane is inapposite because, unlike the GMA, the 

HHAA does not mandate implementation of statewide policy 

through local regulations.  It requires no regulations at all.   

Advancing their analogy nevertheless, Plaintiffs point to 

references in the HHAA to the local legislative body.  But far 

from mandating legislation, the HHAA merely requires that three 

types of decisions, if made, be made by the local legislative body: 

(1) a county’s decision not to participate in homeless planning, 

RCW 43.185C.080(3), .160(1); (2) a city’s choice to accept the 

responsibility for housing homeless persons within its borders, 

RCW 43.185C.080; and (3) a local government’s adoption of a 

five-year homeless housing plan, RCW 43.185C.050, .080(1).  

Enacting police-power regulations is not among these types of 

decisions. 
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Division Three observed that one HHAA provision 

“remotely overlaps” with the initiative in that it references 

“[t]emporary encampments.”  Slip Op. at 14 (quoting 

RCW 43.185C.160(2)(c)).  Under that provision, a county 

homeless-housing task force, in addition to developing a five-

year homeless-housing plan, must establish nonbinding 

“guidelines,” “as needed,” to address issues such as “[t]emporary 

encampments.”  RCW 43.185C.160(2).  Division Three 

correctly concluded that the initiative did not conflict with this 

provision because “no part of this section requires cities or their 

legislative authority to implement the county task force 

guidelines.”  Slip Op. at 14–15.  Indeed, the HHAA does not 

require that the task force recommend its guidelines to the local 
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legislative body, let alone that they be adopted as official 

guidelines, let alone given legally binding effect.8 

Fundamentally, Plaintiffs’ argument is based on two facts: 

(1) the HHAA is a statewide law that seeks encourage and 

coordinate planning to eliminate homelessness and 

(2) unauthorized camping on public property is associated with 

homelessness.  That is not enough to foreclose the exercise of 

police power by direct legislation to restrict such camping. 

 
8 Plaintiffs cite a legislative finding that encampments “serve 

as pathways for individuals experiencing homelessness to 
receive services and achieve financial stability, health, and 
permanent housing.”  Petition at 10–11 (citing LAWS OF 2020, 
ch. 223, § 1).  This finding pertains to encampments hosted by 
religious organizations on private property—not unauthorized 
camping on public property.   

Plaintiffs also cite an authorization of funding for that could 
be used for a “Temporary Shelter Site,” which may include a 
“hosted encampment.”  Petition at 11, 11 n.4 (citing Washington 
State Department of Commerce, Guidelines for the Shelter 
Program Grant, August 2020).  Nothing indicates that such a site 
or encampment could be located on public property.   
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C. The petition raises no issue of substantial public 
interest about how homelessness policy is made.    

Contrary to Plaintiffs’ suggestion, Division Three’s 

decision does not affect homelessness planning or change how 

policy can be made.  Again, a prohibition of camping on public 

property is no different from bans on burning and littering also 

found Spokane’s municipal code.9  Rather than set homelessness 

policy, such ordinances govern individuals’ conduct on public 

property for purposes of public safety and protecting public lands 

for use by all.  See CP 118.  The initiative was thus an authorized 

police-power measure and not subject to any state restrictions or 

processes.  The petition raises no issue of substantial public 

interest that should be determined by this Court.  See RAP 

13.4(b)(4).

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